IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

ST. PAUL TRAVELERS' INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLANT

v.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-00914

SAM D. BURT and KIM M. BURT

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CALHOUN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

M. REED MARTZ (MSB NO. MARKOW WALKER, P.A. 265 N. LAMAR BLVD, SUITE I POST OFFICE DRAWER 50 OXFORD, MISSISSIPPI 38655-0050 (662) 234-9899 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

ST. PAUL TRAVELERS' INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLANT

v.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-00914

SAM D. BURT and KIM M. BURT

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Statement of the Issue
Statement of the Case
Summary of the Argument
Argument1
A. Standard of Review
B. Travelers was Entitled to Everything But Reasonable Costs of Collection 1
Conclusion
Certificate of Service

TABLE OF CASES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES

<u>STATUTES</u>
MISS. CODE ANN. § 71-3-71
<u>CASES</u>
Daulton v. Miller, 815 So. 2d 1237, 1241 (¶17) (Miss. Ct. App. 2001)
Davis v. Hoss, 869 So. 2d 397, 401 (¶10) (Miss. 2004)
Federated Mutual Ins. Co. v. McNeal, 2004-CA-02450-SCT, ¶ 8 (Miss. 2006)
Litton Sys., Inc. v. Murphree, 301 So.2d 850, 852-53 (Miss. 1974)
Merchant's Co. v. Hutchinson, 199 So.2d 813, 815 (Miss. 1967)
Mississippi Food and Fuel Workers' Compensation Trust v. Tackett, 778 So.2d 136, 143 (Miss 2000)
Miss. Power Co. et al v. Jones, 369 So.2d 1381, 1387 (Miss. 1979)
OTHER AUTHORITY
Miss. R. Civ. P. 24(a)

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral Argument Not Requested.

Travelers believes the issues presented to the Court in this appeal are straightforward legal principles involving statutory interpretation which would not be significantly aided by oral argument.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

1. The issue on appeal is whether the trial court erred in awarding the Claimant an equal share of the interpled funds where the "legal liability" of the carrier was not discharged and thus, per MISS. CODE ANN. § 71-3-71, there was no "excess" to be distributed to the Claimant following the payment of the "reasonable costs of collection."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Samuel D. Burt, one of the appellees herein, was an employee of Bruce Furniture Industries, LLC, on November 15, 2001, and on that date sustained an injury which arose out of, and in the course of, his employment. Specifically, Burt was involved in an automobile accident wherein he was a passenger in a vehicle driven by a co-employee, James Easley, which was struck from the rear by Roger Clements, an insured of Mississippi Farm Bureau Insurance. Bruce Furniture Industries had a policy of worker's compensation insurance provided by St. Paul Travelers Insurance Company and pursuant to said policy, Travelers paid \$27,729.21 (\$7,340.26 in indemnity benefits to Sam Burt and \$20,388.95 for medical services). Record at page 8-9.

Sam Burt, along with his wife who alleged loss of consortium¹, thereafter brought a tort lawsuit against the other driver, Clements, as well as his co-worker, Easley, and Clement's liability insurer, on November 3, 2004. Record at page 1. Travelers, in order to protect its lien provided by MISS. CODE ANN. § 71-3-71, then filed a motion for leave to intervene (Record at page 4) and was granted leave to file an intervening complaint on May 19, 2005. Record at page 13. Travelers filed its Intervening Complaint on May 24, 2005, and was aligned as a party plaintiff pursuant to MISS. R. CIV. P. Rule 24(a).

By Agreed Order dated October 12, 2004,² Mississippi Farm Bureau was dismissed without prejudice. On July 28, 2006, co-employee Easley was also dismissed by agreed order (with

¹ A purely derivative claim. *Daulton v. Miller*, 815 So. 2d 1237, 1241 (¶17) (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) ("Restated, this means that a spouse has no better claim in court than the primary claimant does.")

² The correct date of the order is October 12, 2005, as confirmed by the clerk's filing acknowledgment dated October 14, 2005.

prejudice). Travelers, an intervening Plaintiff, was not consulted prior to the execution of these agreed orders and is unaware of the reasons for said dismissals but suspects they were predicated upon the prohibition against direct actions and the tort immunity granted to co-employees stemming from work-related injuries.

On July 11, 2006, Clements filed a "Petition to Interplead Funds," supporting his motion with allegations that Plaintiffs Sam and Kim Burt had agreed to accept Clements' \$25,000.00 bodily injury liability limits in full satisfaction of their damages. Travelers filed a response to said Petition in which it did not consent to the settlement but also did not oppose it *contingent upon* Travelers being fully reimbursed for its lien pursuant to MISS. CODE ANN. § 71-3-71. A hearing was held on this matter on August 14, 2006, and Travelers maintained the same position at that time. Transcript at pages 3-5.

Accordingly, on August 16, 2006, the trial court entered an order finding that although a settlement agreement had been reached between the Plaintiffs, Sam and Kim Burt, and the Defendant, Roger Clements, said settlement could not be completed due to the continuing dispute between the Burts and Travelers over Travelers' right to reimbursement (or at least the extent of its reimbursement). Record Excerpts at page 6-7. Record at page 14-15. The Court ordered the parties to interplead the funds into the Court's registry and execute satisfactory releases of Clements and his insurer. *Id.* Defendant Clements was dismissed with prejudice on this date, leaving only the Burts and Travelers in the suit. *Id.*

Following several hearings which were continued by the trial judge ex parte, the Court entered a scheduling order requiring briefs to be filed in both this subject action as well as the appeal of the Claimant's worker's compensation case from the Mississippi Worker's Compensation

Commission by February 15, 2007. The Plaintiffs filed a brief on February 20, 2007, and Travelers filed its brief on February 26, 2007. The trial court then entered an order on May 3, 2007, distributing the interpled funds in thirds to the Plaintiff's attorney, Plaintiffs and Travelers. Record Excerpts at page 9. Record at page 17. It is from this order that Travelers appeals.

On May 10, 2007, Travelers filed an "Emergency Motion to Reconsider, or Alternatively, Motion to Stay Dispersement of Funds." This motion was subsequently denied orally by the trial court.

³ As implied, Sam Burt's worker's compensation claim stemming from the accident at issue was dismissed with prejudice by the MWCC on November 22, 2005, and this order was affirmed by the Circuit Court on April 30, 2007. No brief was ever filed in the Circuit Court by the claimant during the approximately one and one-half years it was pending. The underlying worker's compensation claim had been dismissed due to the Claimant's failure to actively prosecute his case and his later failure to timely motion for reinstatement, such that the MWCC was without jurisdiction to consider the matter further.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The unanimous holdings of the Mississippi Supreme Court make manifest that a carrier's right to subrogation is absolute and must be strictly applied. MISS. CODE ANN. § 71-3-71. This Court has held that the "the statute *unambiguously* provides that after deducting the costs of collection and attorneys fees *any* recovery from a third party (whether by award or through settlement) *must* be first applied to repay the workers' compensation carrier for benefits it paid the claimant. This Court has said that the statute "must be *strictly interpreted according to its mandatory language*, has *uniformly and consistently* applied the statute and required reimbursement." *Federated Mutual Ins. Co. v. McNeal*, 2004-CA-02450-SCT, ¶ 8 (Miss. 2006) (emphasis added).

In this matter, Traveler's lien totaled \$27,729.21, yet the trial court awarded \$8,333.33 to the Plaintiffs while the "legal liability" of Travelers still constituted \$19,395.88. Travelers was entitled to be fully reimbursed before any funds were distributed to the claimant and thus the trial court's dispersement was error.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

There having been no factual issues presented to the trial court, the trial court's decision should be reviewed de novo. *Davis v. Hoss*, 869 So. 2d 397, 401 (¶10) (Miss. 2004).

B. Travelers was Entitled to Everything But Reasonable Costs of Collection

The proper order of distribution for the interpled funds is set out by statute and should have been strictly observed. Plaintiff Sam Burt received worker's compensation benefits in the amount of \$27,729.21⁴ as a result of the accident, and pursuant to MISS. CODE ANN. § 71-3-71, Travelers has a lien in that amount against any third party recovery Sam Burt may receive.

MISS. CODE ANN. § 71-3-71 provides in relevant part:

If such employer or insured join in such action, they shall be entitled to repayment of the amount paid by them as compensation and medical expenses from the net proceeds of such action (after deducting the reasonable costs of collection) as hereinafter provided. . . . any amount recovered by the injured employee or his dependents (or legal representative) from a third party shall be applied as follows: reasonable costs of collection as approved and allowed by the court in which such action is pending, or by the commission of this state in case of settlement without suit, shall be deducted; the remainder, or so much thereof as is necessary, shall be used to discharge the legal liability of the employer or insurer; and any excess shall belong to the injured employee or his dependents.

The unanimous holdings of the Mississippi Supreme Court make manifest that a carrier's right to subrogation is absolute and must be strictly applied. See Federated Mutual Ins. Co. v. McNeal, 2004-CA-02450-SCT, ¶ 8 (Miss. 2006). In McNeal, which affirmed the proposition that the "made whole rule" does not apply to the employer and carrier's statutory lien, the Mississippi Supreme Court said:

⁴ Burt has previously argued that Travelers can only recover the indemnity benefits paid. This is incorrect. "Compensation" includes medical benefits as well. MISS. CODE ANN. §§ 71-3-15(4); § 71-3-71, ¶ 1.

Thus, the statute *unambiguously* provides that, after deducting the costs of collection and attorneys fees, any recovery from a third party (whether by award or through settlement) must be first applied to repay the workers' compensation carrier for benefits it paid the claimant. This Court, stating that the statute must be strictly interpreted according to its mandatory language, has uniformly and consistently applied the statute and required reimbursement. See, e.g., Miss. Power Co. et al v. Jones, 369 So.2d 1381, 1387 (Miss. 1979) ("statute is plain and unambiguous."); Litton Sys., Inc. v. Murphree, 301 So.2d 850, 852-53 (Miss. 1974) (statute means "exactly what it says; that is that the employer and insurer are entitled to recover compensation paid."); Merchant's Co. v. Hutchinson, 199 So.2d 813, 815 (Miss. 1967) ("Mississippi law is clear and unambiguous on the procedure to be followed by the employer or its insurer in intervening or joining in the cause of action. It is equally clear and unambiguous in setting forth the mandatory distribution to be made of any amount recovered."). In Mississippi Food and Fuel Workers' Compensation Trust v. Tackett, 778 So.2d 136, 143 (Miss. 2000), this Court noted that "Section 71-3-71, insofar as it creates a right of reimbursement to a workers [sic] compensation carrier, has existed in essentially unchanged form since the adoption of workers' compensation laws in this State in 1948."

McNeal, 2004-CA-02450-SCT at ¶ 8 (emphasis added).

As no basis for the trial court's one-third split was contained in its May 3, 2007 Order, there is nothing in the record to support any deviation from the clear language of the statute. Therefore, Travelers is entitled to the entire \$8,333.33 distributed to Sam Burt and also anything above "reasonable costs of collection."

CONCLUSION

The trial court erred in awarding anything to the Plaintiffs as Travelers was not fully reimbursed. This Court should therefore reverse and remand the trial court's May 3, 2007 Order, and direct the Plaintiffs to return the \$8,333.33 they received from the Court's registry. It is further prayed that this Court award Travelers all costs and expenses of this appeal.