IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

ST. PAUL TRAVELERS' INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLANT

V.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-00914

SAM D. BURT AND KIM M. BURT

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons or entities have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Travelers' Insurance Company, heretofore known as St. Paul Travelers' Insurance Company, the Appellant herein
- 2. Markow Walker, P.A., Attorneys
- 3. Reed Martz, of counsel for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Samuel D. Burt, on November 15, 2001, was an employee of Bruce Furniture

Industries when he was injured in an automobile accident which arose out of his employment.

Sam Burt was a guest passenger in a vehicle driven by a co-employee, James Easley. The vehicle in which Sam was riding was struck from the rear by another vehicle being operated by Roger Clements. Roger Clements was an insured of Mississippi Farm Bureau with maximum limits of \$25,000.

James Easley had a policy of liability insurance with \$2,000 medical pay benefits. The Easley policy of insurance excluded med pay benefits in the event of injury involving a workmen's compensation claim.

The workmen's compensation carrier for Bruce Furniture paid \$7,340.26 in temporary total and, perhaps, permanent partial benefits directly to Sam Burt. An additional \$20,388.95 was paid for medical services to medical providers selected by the workmen's compensation carrier.

Subsequent to filing suit for and on behalf of the Burts, the \$25,000 limits of liability were tendered by the insurance carrier for Roger Clements. Relative to the tender of the \$25,000 via a Petition to Interplead Funds, the parties presented arguments as to how the funds should be disbursed.

In support of Appellees' Motion to Dismiss the appeal of Appellant, the statement of Mrs. Deborah Dunn, Circuit Clerk of Calhoun County, Mississippi, is attached hereto and marked "Exhibit 1," and asked to be considered a part hereof as if fully copied herein.

It is pointed out in Mrs. Dunn's Statement that on December 5, 2006, Judge Henry L.

Lackey entered an Order for the disbursement of the \$25,000, with one-third being applied to attorney's fees, one-third to Sam Burt and wife, and the balance to St. Paul Travelers Insurance Company, being also one-third. A copy of Judge Lackey's Order of December 5, 2006, is attached as "Exhibit A" to Mrs. Dunn's Statement.

On the same day that Judge Lackey signed this Order, he entered another Order setting aside his prior Order of disbursement, pointing out that this matter had been assigned to Judge Andrew K. Howorth. A copy of the Order setting Judge Lackey's Order of disbursement is attached as "Exhibit B" to the Statement of Mrs. Dunn.

Thereafter, on May 3, 2007, Judge Andrew K. Howorth entered his Order directing that the \$25,000 would be disbursed with one-third applied to attorney's fees, one-third paid to Sam Burt and wife, and one-third to be paid to St. Paul Travelers Insurance Company.

Judge Howorth's Order of May 3, 2007, was filed on May 5, 2007, as evidence by a copy attached as "Exhibit C" (R-17) to the Statement of Deborah Dunn, Circuit Clerk.

In accord with the Court's Order of disbursement, the Circuit Clerk disbursed the funds. The check issued to St. Paul Travelers Insurance Company, being check number 1359, cleared the account of the Circuit Clerk on June 1, 2007.

It is significant to note the St. Paul Travelers Insurance Company did not obtain an order prohibiting disbursement of the funds, nor did file a supersedeas bond in this cause.

ARGUMENT OF APPELLEES FOR DISMISSAL OF APPEAL

According to Black's Law Dictionary, 6th Edition, supersedeas is defined as follows:

"In Practice. The name of a writ containing a command to stay the proceedings at law.

A suspension of the power of a trial court to issue an execution on judgment appealed from, or, if writ of execution has issued, it is a prohibition emanating from court of appeal against execution of writ. Stewart v. Hurt, 9 Cal.2d 39, 68 P.2d 726, 727.

An auxiliary process designed to surpersede enforcement of trial court's judgment brought up for review, and its application is limited to the judgment from which an appeal is taken. Mascot Pictures Corporation v. Municipal Court of City of Los Angeles, 3 Cal.App.2d 559, 40 P.2d 272.

Originally it was a writ directed to an officer, commanding him to desist from enforcing the execution of another writ which he was about to execute, or which might come in his hands. In modern times the term is often used synonymously with a "stay of proceedings," and is employed to designate the effect of an act or proceeding which of itself suspends the enforcement of a judgment. Dulin v. Coal Co., 98 Cal. 306, 33 P. 123."

§11-51-43, of the Mississippi Code as Annotated, states as follows:

"In any case of an appeal to the supreme court, where no special provision is made by law for a supersedeas of the judgment or decree appealed from, or for the bond to be given in such case, a supersedeas may be allowed by the court rendering the judgment or decree appealed from or by the judge thereof, or by the supreme court or any of the judges of said court, upon such bond, with such sureties as said court or judge may direct in the order of a supersedeas."

Of course, the above section was modified or supplemented by M.R.A.P., Rule 8, of the

Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure, providing as follows:

"Stay or Injunction Pending Appeal.

- (a) Stay by Clerk's Approval of Supersedeas Bond. The appellant shall be entitled to stay of execution of a money judgment pending appeal if the appellant gives a supersedeas bond, payable to the opposite party, with two or more sufficient resident sureties, or one or more guaranty or surety companies authorized to do business in this state, in a penalty of 125 percent of the amount of the judgment appealed from conditioned that the appellant will satisfy the judgment complained of, and also such final judgment as may be made in the case. The clerk of the trial court shall approve such bond and the approval of supersedeas bond by the clerk shall constitute a stay of the judgment. In the event the clerk declines to approve the bond, or the clerk's approval is contested, or the appellant seeks a stay on any basis other than compliance with this subdivision, the requirements of Rule 8(b) apply.
- (b) Other Stays Must Ordinarily Be Sought in the First Instance From the Trial Court.
- (1) Application for a stay of the judgment or the order of a trial court pending appeal or for approval or disapproval of a contested supersedeas bond or for an order suspending, modifying, restoring, or granting an injunction during the pendency of an appeal must ordinarily be made in the first instance to the trial court. The court shall require the giving of security by the appellant in such form and in such sum as the court deems proper, and for good cause shown may set a supersedeas bond in an amount less than the 125 percent required in cases under Rule 8(a).
- (2) However, a bond or equivalent security required on any money judgment entered in whole or in part on account of punitive damages shall, as to the punitive damages portion of the judgment only, be the lower of:
 - (A) 125 percent of the total amount of punitive damages, or
 - (B) ten percent of the net worth of the defendant seeking appeal as determined by applying generally accepted accounting principles to the defendant's financial status as of December 31, of the year prior to the entry of the judgment for

punitive damages.

- (C) Absent unusual circumstances, the total amount of the required bond or equivalent security for any case as to punitive damages shall not exceed \$100,000,000.
- (3) To qualify for reduction of bond or equivalent security under subpart (b)(2)(b), there must be a good and sufficient showing that the imposition of a supersedeas bond of 125% of the full judgment appealed from would place that appellant in a condition of insolvency or would otherwise substantially threaten its future financial viability.
- (4) When the appellant is allowed the benefit of a reduction in bond or equivalent security under subpart (b)(2)(b) or (c), the court may require submission of such reports or evidence to the court and to opposing parties as will allow them to be properly informed of the financial condition of the appellant during the period of supersedeas. If at any time after notice and hearing, the court finds that an appellant who has posted a bond or equivalent security for less than 125 percent of the full amount of the judgment has taken actions that affect the financial ability of the appellant to respond to the judgment, or has taken other actions with the intent to avoid the judgment, the court shall increase the bond or equivalent security to the full 125 percent of the judgment. If the appellant does not post the additional bond required by the court, the stay shall be revoked.
- (5) If a hearing is necessary for the issues arising under subpart (b), the judgment shall be stayed during such hearing and for ten days following the trial court's ruling. The ruling of the trial court on motions filed under this subpart (b) shall be reviewable by the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals.
- (c) Motion to Stay or Vacate Stay in Supreme Court. A motion for such relief may be made to the Supreme Court (or to the Court of Appeals in cases assigned by the Supreme Court to the Court of Appeals), but the motion shall show that the application to the trial court for relief sought is not practicable, or that the trial court has denied an application or has failed to afford the relief which the applicant has requested, with the reasons given by the trial court for its action. The motion shall

also show the reasons for the relief requested and the facts relied upon and if the facts are subject to dispute, the motion shall be supported by affidavits or other sworn statements. The applicant shall file an original and four (4) copies of the motion for stay and, if the motion is opposed, shall attach legible copies of the documents listed below. If the applicant asserts that time does not permit the filing of a written motion, applicant shall deliver to the clerk five (5) legible copies of each of the listed documents as soon as possible. If any listed document cannot be attached or delivered, a statement of the reason for the omission shall be substituted. The documents required are:

- (1) The application to the trial court for a stay;
- (2) Each brief or memorandum of authorities filed by a party to the application in the trial court;
- (3) The opinion giving the reasons advanced by the trial court for denying relief;
- (4) The trial court order of judgment denying relief.

Reasonable notice of the motion shall be given to all parties. The motion shall be filed with the clerk of the Supreme Court and will be considered by a panel of the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals. In emergency cases, the application may be considered by a single justice or judge of the appropriate appellate court, and the applicant shall file the motion with the Clerk of the Supreme Court in writing as promptly as possible.

(d) Stay May Be Conditioned Upon the Giving of a Bond; Proceedings Against Sureties. Relief available in the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals under this rule may be conditioned upon the filing of a bond or other appropriate security in the trial court. If the security is given in the form of a bond or stipulation or undertaking with one or more sureties, each surety submits itself to the jurisdiction of the trial court and irrevocably appoints the clerk of the trial court as its agent upon whom any papers affecting its liability on the bond or undertaking may be served. The surety's liability may be enforced on motion in the trial court without the necessity of an independent action. The motion and notice of the motion may be served upon the clerk of the trial court, who shall forthwith

mail copies to the sureties if their addresses are known."

As indicated by the comments, following the Rule, Rule 8(a) is based on Miss. Code
Ann. §11-51-31 (Supp. 1994) and provides for a stay of a money judgement pending appeal
upon approval of a supersedeas bond by the clerk of the trial court. In a case involving only a
money judgment, the appellant may obtain a stay by posting a bond approved by the clerk.

In this case, the insurance company, i.e., St. Paul Travelers, failed to tender a bond to be approved by the lower court clerk nor was there an application made to the Supreme Court as provided by the Rules and the old statute.

In fact, the Appellant participated in a division of the funds, as ordered by the lower court, and placed the check in its bank account which has cleared the Circuit Court's account, having done so on June 1, 2007.

In the case of the Estate of Moreland, 537 So.2d 1345 (Miss. 1989) at page 10347, this Honorable Court made the following observation, in its opinion:

"Where there is appeal is without supersedeas, the successful party may proceed to execute on the lower court decree..."

Since the St. Paul Travelers Insurance Company failed to obtain supersedeas bond, the Burts were entitled to execute on the lower court's order or have the funds disbursed by the clerk.

In the case of <u>Lindsey</u> v. <u>Lindsey</u>, 219 Miss. 720, 69 So.2d 844, (1954), at page 723, states as follows:

"The successful party may, if the appeal is without supersedeas, proceed to execute on the decree; but, if it is with supersedeas, execution thereon is suspended."

Defined in the case of McNeil v. Hunter, 753 So.2d 1057 (Miss. 2000), we find a

reiteration of a number of cases as follows:

"If the appeal is without supersedeas, as is the appeal at hand, the appellee may proceed to execute on the decree in the lower court."

Not only did the St. Paul Travelers Insurance Company fail to attempt to make a supersedeas bond or tender a bond to the clerk of the lower court, the insurance carrier actually seemingly joined in the request for disbursement of funds and accepted the one-third allocated to them by the lower court.

In view of the facts and circumstances, the insurance carrier is estopped from proceeding further with this cause on appeal, and the case should be dismissed at the cost of the Appellant.

CONCLUSION

Attorney's fees in the amount of at least one-half of the lower court's award to the undersigned attorney should be made, together with costs and any other appropriate monetary award to appellees and their counsel.

This matter became res adjudicata when the appellant failed to obtain supersedeas and disbursement was had of the funds and acceptance of each of the appellees, appellant and counsel for the appellees.